## **Bioresource Technology**

# Biosurfactants: The Green Generation of Speciality Chemicals and Potential Production Using Solid-State Fermentation (SSF) Technology --Manuscript Draft--

Manuscript Number:	BITE-D-20-06080R2
Article Type:	Review article
Keywords:	Biosurfactants; glycolipids; solid-state fermentation; industrial applications; speciality chemicals
Corresponding Author:	Ibrahim M. Banat, PhD University of Ulster Coleraine, UNITED KINGDOM
First Author:	Ibrahim M. Banat, PhD
Order of Authors:	Ibrahim M. Banat, PhD
	Quentin Carboué
	Gerardo Saucedo-Castañeda
	José de Jesús Cázares-Marinero
Abstract:	Surfactants are multipurpose products found in most sectors of contemporary industry. Their large-scale manufacturing has been mainly carried out using traditional chemical processes. Some of the chemical species involved in their production are considered hazardous and some industrial processes employing them categorised as "having potential negative impact on the environment". Biological surfactants have therefore been generally accepted worldwide as suitable sustainable greener alternatives. Biosurfactants exhibit the same functionalities of synthetic analogues while having the ability to synergize with other molecules improving performances; this strengthens the possibility of reaching different markets via innovative formulations. Recently, their use was suggested to help combat Covid-19. In this review, an analysis of recent bibliography is presented with descriptions, statistics, classifications, applications, advantages, and challenges; evincing the reasons why biosurfactants can be considered as the chemical specialities of the future. Finally, the uses of the solid-state fermentation as a production technology for biosurfactants is presented.

#### Dear Editors,

Please find attached a paper entitled "Biosurfactants: The Green Generation of Speciality Chemicals and Potential Production Using Solid-State Fermentation (SSF) Technology" for consideration for publications in Bioresource Technology.

Biosurfactant production has become quite an important type of molecules, highly sought after by a wide range of industrial processes and the production technologies are in some instances the main bottle neck.

This review therefore presents the case for Biosurfactants as the specialty chemicals for countless future industrial applications. An analysis of the state of the art with recent bibliography is presented with descriptions, statistics, classifications, and applications; evincing the reasons why biosurfactants can be considered as the chemical specialities of the future. Finally, we discuss the use of the solid-state fermentation as a production technology gap for future biosurfactants that may present a solution to future production and research.

We feel this area of importance and high curiosity for microbiologists enough to be considered for publication by Bioresource Technology.

Kindly note that:

- 1. An abstract with content and details have been submitted to the Editor-in-Chief (Professor A. Pandey) who approved submission.
- 2. All the authors mutually agree for submitting their manuscript to BITE
- 3. The manuscript has not been submitted earlier to BITE
- 4. The Subject Classification selected is 60: MICROBIAL PRODUCTS

Yours truly,

Ibrahim M Banat

Response to the second revision request

**Dear Professor Pandey** 

Kindly find attached the second revision for this review in which we have carried out the requested revisions as follows:

Remove Fig 1; no such details on number of publications, etc should be given even in text.

Figure 1 was removed, and details of number removed from text

Remove Fig 2 by giving details in text only. Figure 2 was removed, and details given in text

Refs can be maximum 150; delete older ones or those from books.

References were reduced to 150

Page length can be maximum 50.

Length was reduced to 50 pages

```
Graphical Abstract (for review)
```



### Highlights

- Biosurfactants are becoming the specialty chemicals for many future industrial applications.
- Solid-state fermentation can mitigate some drawbacks of submerged liquid fermentation.
- Industry shows growing interest in biosurfactants for use in different markets.
- Covid-19 may boost future inclusion of biosurfactants in personal care products.

#### б

## **Biosurfactants: The Green Generation of Speciality Chemicals and Potential Production Using Solid-State Fermentation (SSF) Technology**

Ibrahim M. Banat<sup>\*a</sup>, Quentin Carboué<sup>b</sup>, Gerardo Saucedo-Castañeda<sup>b</sup>, and José de Jesús Cázares-Marinero<sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup> School of Biomedical Sciences, University of Ulster, Coleraine BT52 1SA, N. Ireland, UK

<sup>b</sup> Department of Biotechnology, Metropolitan Autonomous University-Iztapalapa, Av. San

Rafael Atlixco 186, Col. Vicentina, Del. Iztapalapa, 09340 Mexico City

<sup>c</sup> Department of Research & Development, Polioles, S.A. de C.V. Lerma Industrial Park. 52000 Mexico.

\* Corresponding author: Ibrahim M. Banat

E-mail address: im.banat@ulster.ac.uk

#### Abstract

Surfactants are multipurpose products found in most sectors of contemporary industry. Their large-scale manufacturing has been mainly carried out using traditional chemical processes. Some of the chemical species involved in their production are considered hazardous and some industrial processes employing them categorised as "having potential negative impact on the environment". Biological surfactants have therefore been generally accepted worldwide as suitable sustainable greener alternatives. Biosurfactants exhibit the same functionalities of synthetic analogues while having the ability to synergize with other molecules improving performances; this strengthens the possibility of reaching different markets via innovative formulations. Recently, their use was suggested to help combat Covid-19. In this review, an analysis of recent bibliography is presented with descriptions, statistics, classifications, applications, advantages, and challenges; evincing the reasons why biosurfactants can be considered as the chemical specialities of the future. Finally, the uses of the solid-state fermentation as a production technology for biosurfactants is presented.

#### Keywords

Biosurfactants, glycolipids, solid-state fermentation, industrial applications, speciality chemicals.

#### Contents

1. Introduction
2. Surfactants: definitions, classifications and challenges
2.1. Drawbacks and challenges of conventional surfactants
3. Biosurfactants: attributes and interest
3.1. Scientific and technological interest
3.2. Classification of biosurfactants
4. Potential applications
4.1 Pharmaceutical applications of biosurfactants
4.2 Personal care applications of biosurfactants
4.3 Biosurfactants in household cleaning
4.4 Biosurfactants in oil recovery
4.5 Biosurfactants for bioremediation and pollutants removal
5. Solid-state fermentation (SSF) for biosurfactant production
5.1 Important factors for biosurfactant production in SSF
5.1.1 Effect of pH on biosurfactant production
5.1.2 Effect of temperature on biosurfactant production
5.1.3 Effect of moisture content on biosurfactant production
5.1.4 Effect of the medium composition on biosurfactant production
5.1.5 Effect of nutrient supplementation on biosurfactant production
5.2 Scale up of SSF process for the production of biosurfactants
5.3 Comparison of SSF vs SmF for the production of biosurfactants
6. Future potentials
7. Conclusions
8. Acknowledgments
9. References

#### 1. Introduction

The increasing concern of the industry about sustainable processes and exploitation of eco-friendly products are the driving force for the growing interest on biosurfactants (BS).

Indeed, they are generally considered as less toxic and more biodegradable species than their synthetic counterparts and can be obtained from sustainable sources (Marchant and Banat, 2012). This interest is supported by the numerous successful applications of biosurfactants in recent years, not only in the replacement of conventional surfactants, but also because they exhibit own specific activities which find their use in different industrial sectors (Kumari et al., 2018; Rincón-Fontán et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2018). However, production costs associated with BS, especially regarding the downstream processes, are still the main technological limitation for industrial exploitation (Banat et al., 2014b). Numerous studies have been focused on cost reduction, one example is the alternative approach of solid-state fermentation (SSF) which offers interesting perspectives as it is strongly tied to the concept of valorisation of biomass (e.g. the use of agro-industrial byproducts for culture media) and the reduction of downstream liquid volume treatment. This work aims to provide a comprehensive overview of the contemporary state on the subject of biosurfactants, advantages, disadvantages, challenges and production techniques, with particular emphasis on solid-state fermentation, critical process variables and a comparison with liquid fermentation. We also present some appealing applications of biosurfactants for different industrial sectors that have been the object of research and interest in the last five years including pharmaceutical, personal care, bioremediation and oil applications and some strategies for market access.

#### 2. Surfactants: definitions, classifications and challenges

Surfactants are amphipathic chemical compounds constituted by two different molecular motifs: one hydrophilic and one lipophilic. The hydrophilic part is a polar moiety with strong affinity to polar substances such as water, while the lipophilic (or hydrophobic) shows affinity to non-polar media such as oils and fats; so, they can simultaneously interact with both polar and nonpolar substances. This dual characteristic allows surfactants to reduce the interfacial tension and confers desirable properties such as detergency, emulsifying activity, foaming,

Page 3 of 50

mixing and dispersion (Teixeira Souza et al., 2018). Such features are highly demanded in almost all sectors of the contemporary industry.

Surfactants can be categorized according to their origin, electrostatic status, and their hydrophilic and lipophilic balance (HLB); these categories are presented in Table 1. By origin, surfactants can be synthetic, semi-synthetic, or biological (biosurfactants). Most of the known surfactants worldwide fall in the synthetic and semi-synthetic type. Chemical surfactants mostly comprise ethylene oxide and propylene oxide copolymers and alkoxylated derivatives of alkylphenol, sorbitan esters, alcohols, and amines. Oleochemicals come from vegetable oils and fats that are subsequently modified through chemical processes. The lipophilic component is provided by a natural oil, while the ulterior synthesis conforms the hydrophilic moiety. Thus, oleochemical surfactants are also called semi-synthetic surfactants or bio-based products. Among recognized producers worldwide of both synthetic and semi-synthetic surfactants we find Akzo Nobel (Netherlands), BASF (Germany), Clariant (Switzerland), Croda (UK), Dow (USA), Evonik (Germany), Huntsman (USA), Oxiteno (Brazil), Procter & Gamble (USA), Rhodia (France), Sabic (Saudi Arabia), Sasol (South Africa), Shell (Netherlands), Solvay (Belgium) and Stepan (USA).

#### 2.1. Drawbacks and challenges of conventional surfactants

Surfactants are the key components in the formulation of a variety of products for many different applications. However, their manufacturing has negatively impacted the environment for many years. Most of the raw materials derived from crude oil show high profiles of ecotoxicity and low profiles of biodegradability, e.g. alkylphenols and aromatic compounds (Li et al., 2013). This is the reason why such chemical species are regulated by many international organizations such as the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), the Department of Transportation (DOT) and The Food and Drug Administration (FDA), all in the USA; and the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) in Europe. Some regulatory registries or laws include the ECL Restricted Substances List in South Korea, the

Industrial Safety and Health Law (ISHL) in Japan, the Work Place Hazardous Material Information System (WHMIS) in Canada, the Toxic Substances Control (TSCA) in USA, and many more, including international inventories of chemical substances. The negative potential of surfactants has been temporarily attended by the introduction of bio-based products, e.g. lauryl alcohol derivatives, which attenuate the synthetic nature and hazardousness of traditional chemical technologies. Nonetheless, the sacrifice of natural resources and subsequent stages of conventional chemical transformations are always required for manufacturing bio-based products. This category of "greener" semi-synthetic products has experienced significant growth in recent years in Europe and North America as a result of expanding applications in personal care, home care, and agrochemicals. In addition to safety risks associated with the use of raw materials, intermediaries, and finished products, other challenges to industry may lie in the emission of billions of kilograms of carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  into the atmosphere, contributing to the undesirable climate change (Griffin et al., 2018). Consequently, the chemical industry is now compelled to implement strategies for manufacturing more sustainable products through more eco-friendly processes (Zimmerman et al., 2020) without sacrificing product efficiencies. This should make biotechnological production of biosurfactants a more desirable technological alternative that will resolve such drawbacks in the long term.

#### 3. Biosurfactants: attributes and interest

Biosurfactants (BS), also known as microbial (biological) surfactants, are secondary metabolites that are produced at the end of the exponential growth phase of microorganisms including bacteria, yeasts, and moulds. Biologically speaking, these molecules are involved in cell development, biofilm formation, and regulation of osmotic pressure. They are also implicated in cell survival under disadvantageous circumstances such as the need to use non-bioavailable hydrophobic substances (like hydrocarbons) as their sole carbon source. In this last case, excreted BS are involved in the diffusion of this inaccessible substrate through the cell membrane (Santos et al., 2016). BS can either be excreted or remain inside the cell. Because BS

 are produced through complex enzymatic reactions, such biomolecules often have complex chemical structures that can be modulated through careful selection of the culture medium or via genetic engineering (Brück et al., 2019).

#### 3.1. Scientific and technological interest

The large advantages of versatile BS over synthetic products have drawn the attention of industrial research. Biosurfactants can be produced from renewable sources, generally have low toxicity, are highly biodegradable, often display better environmental compatibility, and usually remain stable at wide ranges of pH and temperatures (Das and Kumar, 2018; Gaur et al., 2019). Increased environmental awareness among consumers combined with new environmental legislations has provided further impetus for serious consideration of BS as possible alternatives to existing products (Marchant and Banat, 2012). This has been evidenced by the significant rise of publications not only of scientific articles, but also of patents on the topic. The following is a summary of the search for bibliographic information from the database SciFinder of Chemical Abstract Service (CAS). The keyword "biosurfactants" was used, and repeated references were considered as one. From 1963 to mid-September 2020 the count of publications was around 10,130. Although publishable activity on BS dates back > 57 years, the boom came up within the last twenty years. Only in the last five years, around 40% of the total known bibliography on BS has been reported; it is estimated that at least two documents on BS are published every day. This increase could be the result of the global growth of scientific literature in recent years, including reports on biotechnological products and processes. However, it is important to note that the trend shown by patentable activity (technological interest) in BS has not been proportional. The interest in patenting seems to be gaining ground over time. In early 2000s, around 10% of the body of publications were patents while, in the last five years, that proportion has doubled. This shows a growing and accelerated interest for the industrial exploitation.

Among the institutions with significant publishable activity one finds: East China University of Science and Technology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Hunan University

(China), Locus IP Company LLC (USA), Zhejiang University (China), China National Petroleum Corporation, Jiangnan University (China), and the Ghent University (Belgium).

This spreading concern in BS has economic impact as the global surfactant market accounted for USD 43.6 billion in 2017, and is projected to reach USD 66.4 billion by 2025, registering a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 5.4% from 2018 to 2025 (Shasttri and Sumant, 2018). Biosurfactants however, account for a small percentage of the global surfactant market; and the precise value is unknown due to the incorrect indiscriminate use of the term "biosurfactant" by some producers of environmental-friendly synthetic surfactants and the practices of some market research companies which include oleochemicals under this category. Some of the few known producers in the world of authentic biosurfactants are Evonik (Germany), Ecover (Belgium), Jeneil Biotech (USA), Saraya (Japan), AGAE (USA), Soliance (France; now Givaudan, Swiss), GlycoSurf (USA), TensioGreen (USA), NatSurfact (now Stepan, USA), Rhamnolipid (USA), MG Intobio (South Korea), Victex (China), and Kingorigin (China) (Glam Research, 2020).

#### 3.2. Classification of biosurfactants

Biosurfactants are amphiphilic molecules formed by two contrasting moieties: one hydrophilic and one lipophilic. The hydrophilic part of BS is constituted of carbohydrates, amino acids, proteins, phosphates, carboxylic acids, or alcohol motifs. The lipophilic fragments are chains of carbon atoms as in fatty acids. Both molecular components are assembled via linking biochemical functionalities such as ethers (C–O–C), amides (N–C=O), and esters (O–C=O). According to the kind of each moiety, BS are frequently classified as glycolipids, lipopolysaccharides, lipopeptides, phospholipids, and fatty acids; each group has specific physicochemical features and physiological roles (Henkel and Hausmann, 2019). Among all types of BS, glycolipids have the potential to be produced on a large scale due to their convenient yield compared to other BS such as lipoproteins. It is expected that BS produced at higher yields will lead to lower costs of production (Dhanarajan and Sen, 2014). Glycolipids are the consequence of the condensation of fatty acids (lipids) and carbohydrates. Their names are

Page 7 of 50

taken from the identity of the carbohydrate. Ergo, glycolipids containing sophorose are called sophorolipids; those containing rhamnose are named rhamnolipids; those with trehalose, trehalose-lipids, and so on. From all glycolipid types, sophorolipids and rhamnolipids have been among the most studied species (Funston et al., 2016; Irorere et al., 2017). Sophorolipids can be found as a variety of structures; the most known architectures are open and cyclic arrangements (Delbeke et al., 2016). Open sophorolipids are those displaying the chemical functionality of carboxylic acid (COOH) at the end of the lipophilic chain. Cyclic forms are those having an ester functionality as a result of the condensation between the fatty acid and one of the hydroxyl motifs of the sophorose. Cyclic esters are called lactones. In this way, there are acidic and lactonized forms of sophorolipids. Other molecular variations are (i) the presence or absence of acetyl groups on the carbohydrate moiety, (ii) the length of the alkyl chain, (iii) the number of unsaturation in the fatty chain, (iv) the position of the hydroxyl group in the fatty alcohol, and (vi) the position of the hydroxyl group of the carbohydrate that is esterified with the fatty acid in lactone forms, among others.

#### 4. Potential applications

Because BS reduce surface tension exactly in the same way as chemical and oleochemical surfactants do, they can find the same application niches. The following section describes some recent examples of applications of BS in different industrial sectors.

#### 4.1 Pharmaceutical applications of biosurfactants

Due to their anti-adhesion and enzyme inhibition effects, BS can be useful active ingredients in fungicides, bactericides, insecticides, antivirals, among others. For this reason, these have been used in many studies that aim to introduce BS into therapeutic applications (Fracchia et al., 2015). As mentioned above, BS are naturally produced by microorganisms during biofilm formation, smoothing the architecture of microcolonies and maintaining the channels needed for distributing vital fluids. These attenuating properties of isolated BS can be

useful to ensure the anti-adherence of human pathogens and, therefore, to inhibit their capacity to form biofilms at potential sites of infection (Anjum et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2018).

In view of their amphiphilic nature, many of the antibiotic effects of BS involve damage to lipid bilayers constituting cell membranes. Some BS allow the formation of pores in membranes which leads to disequilibrium in ion exchange and consequently to cell death. It also has been shown that another bactericidal mechanism exhibited by some BS involves the generation of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Gaur et al., 2020). Moreover, to avoid the recurrence of resistant microbial strains, the combination of more than one type of active molecule may be desirable, rather than one (single) molecule (Wani and Ahmad, 2020). The antimicrobial properties of BS have been investigated in synergistic combination with other species, e.g. caprylic acid (Díaz De Rienzo et al., 2016) and silver and iron oxide nanoparticles (Khalid et al., 2019), among others.

Some BS also exhibit antiviral properties. Particularly, surfactin can prevent infection of epithelial cells caused by enveloped viruses –including herpes viruses– inhibiting membrane fusion between virus and host cells. This inhibition can be carried out against porcine epidemic diarrhoea virus at low BS concentrations without cytotoxicity (Yuan et al., 2018). Surfactin produced by the probiotic *Bacillus subtilis* also showed efficiency in the inactivation of transmissible gastroenteritis coronavirus (Wang et al., 2017).

Very recently, the use of BS has been suggested to combat SARS-CoV-2, responsible for the Covid-19 pandemic, a situation which has resulted in strong worldwide ongoing negative impacts on health, societies, and economies. It is noted that BS could help to mitigate transmission, incubation, and disease development (Smith et al., 2020). Since coronaviruses, like any other viruses, are completely dependent on their lipid membrane that keeps and stores their genetic information and viral machinery (proteins and enzymes), biosurfactants have the ability to deactivate SARS-CoV2 through a simple membranal disruption such as most detergents do. Another possible mechanism of action could be the destabilization of viral envelope and membrane proteins, such as the spikes of glycoprotein that allows the virus to

Page 9 of 50

anchor itself to human cell receptors, e.g. angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor (Mittal et al., 2020). Therefore, the use of BS as active agents in handwashing and cleaning products can prevent the spread of the virus. Moreover, these can also be adequate excipients or adjuvants for medicines to treat symptoms and be good elements in the production of antiviral masks.

Besides the antimicrobial and antiviral properties, BS can find other health applications such as immunomodulation, both activation and suppression of immune system and anticancer effects, e.g. inhibition of the cell cycle, apoptosis, inhibition of the metastatic capacity of tumour cells, etc. (Guerfali et al., 2019; Sajid et al., 2020).

#### 4.2 Personal care applications of biosurfactants

The emulsifying properties of BS are attractive for the formulation of cosmetics and personal care products, because these can fulfil all the critical functions of synthetic surfactants (Vecino et al., 2017) and modulate the rheological properties of such formulations (Xu and Amin, 2019). For example, a BS obtained from *Lactobacillus paracasei* managed to stabilize an emulsion consisting of essential oils and natural antioxidants just as the commercial surfactant sodium dodecyl sulfate does (Ferreira et al., 2017). Another example is the study of replacement commercial chemical surfactants such as sodium laureth sulfate by BS in shampoos (Fernández-Peña et al., 2020). Other works have introduced BS in mixtures with chemical surfactants for cleansing agents (Brigitte et al., 2017a; Hartung et al., 2013). Here, the ratio biosurfactant/surfactant plays a critical role in the properties of the final formulation.

A biosurfactant extract from corn steep liquor –an agricultural byproduct– showed promising results as a cosmetic formulation agent. This extract exhibited interesting surfaceactive properties. It appeared to be a suitable co-stabilizer for nanoemulsions and nanocrystals increasing dermal penetration. Besides its advantages as a formulation agent, the extract also exhibited antioxidant and skin protective properties (Knoth et al., 2019). Moreover, BS appeared to be effective stabilizing agents of vitamin C in cosmetic formulations (Rincón-Fontán et al., 2020). Finally, synergistic effects in association with zinc oxide against *Cutibacterium acnes* have been found, allowing the reduction of zinc concentrations in formulations to treat acne (Rodríguez-López et al., 2020).

As previously mentioned, BS may be used in cosmetics, not only for their formulation properties but also for their valuable bioactivities. In this regards, yeast biosurfactants showed promising results to treat dermatophytosis caused by *Trichophyton mentagrophytes* (Sen et al., 2020). A mouthwash containing a mixture of biosurfactants from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Candida bombicola* (now *Starmerella bombicola*) was effective against cariogenic microorganisms and was significantly less toxic than commercially available mouthwashes (Farias et al., 2019). Commercially speaking, Henkel AG & Co. KGaA (Germany) owns various patents involving BS for cosmetic formulations, e.g. soap, scrub and emulsion agents (Brigitte et al., 2017b; Schelges and Tretyakova, 2017a, 2017b, 2017c).

#### 4.3 Biosurfactants in household cleaning

Surface activities are inherent in cleaning agents and the trend of substitution of surfactants by BS has been of great interest for household cleaning products. Many studies highlight the potential use of BS in cleaning formulations (Fei et al., 2020). This substitution may however be partial, to reduce the initial quantity of synthetic compounds. This way, a lipopeptide biosurfactant used as a laundry detergent showed promising results and additively worked with a commercial detergent (Bouassida et al., 2018). From a perspective of stain removal action, microorganisms that simultaneously can produce good yields of both enzymes and biosurfactants by using the same culture medium are particularly valuable as their crude extracts exhibit synergistic effects (Hmidet et al., 2019). Thus, Bhange et al. (2016) produced keratinolytic protease, amylase, and a biosurfactant from *B. subtilis* using a single optimized medium. It is known that water temperature affects the effectiveness of detergents; therefore, lowering water temperatures may result in an economic and environmental challenge for cleaning treatments. Synthetic surfactants can crystallize at lower temperatures and therefore lose their surface activities at conditions where BS remain active. Consequently, processes involving BS can be carried out at lower temperatures. Following this idea, a special focus is

Page 11 of 50

given to BS-producing microorganisms isolated from cold environments (Perfumo et al., 2018). Unilever (Rotterdam-London, Netherland-United Kingdom) has various patents related to household products, some of them are: laundry comprising BS and lipases from *Psychromonas ingrahamii* –a psychrophilic bacterium– active at low temperatures (De Rose et al., 2017a, 2017b); cleaning fluids comprising mixtures of surfactants and BS (Jones and Stevenson, 2016), and BS mixtures to protect coloured or dyed substrates from dye transfer during exposure to aqueous cleansing solutions (Torodov Petkov and Stevenson, 2016).

#### 4.4 Biosurfactants in oil recovery

Petroleum also known as 'black gold' is the main source of energy for the contemporary world. Crude oil is found below the earth's surface or trapped inside rocks as a result of the transformation of accumulated organic matter into sediments from the geological past located in different parts of the earth where it can be extracted by well drilling. The natural pressure of an oil reservoir makes it flow from the bottom to the surface. However, as the extraction progresses, this pressure decreases, and the application of liquids or gases is required to repressurize and obtain the remaining oil. During these operations, formulated chemical agents that can perform lubrication, wetting, demulsification, corrosion inhibition, wax inhibition, flow improvement, among others, are normally required. These products are called oilfield chemicals and are typically made up of polymeric materials of petrochemical origin whose raw materials, intermediates, or final components are regulated due to their ecotoxicity profiles. In recent years, the possibility of replacing chemical compounds with BS has been investigated (Ke et al., 2019; Siyasankar and Suresh Kumar, 2017; Zhao et al., 2018).

Recent examples are the inventions of Locus Oil IP Company, who has patented compositions and methods for oil recovery (Farmer et al., 2019, 2018b), upgrading heavy crude oil (Farmer et al., 2018a), and removing paraffins (Farmer et al., 2020). Another example is Baker Hughes Inc. (Houston, USA) who owns various biosurfactants-related patents. One involves the application of a mixture of BS to prevent the corrosion inside the wells during treatments (Gunawan et al., 2015) and other involves the addition of BS to hydrocarbon-based fluids to reduce their viscosity (Campbell and Weers, 2016). Varjani and Upasani (2016) showed that a thermo- and halo-tolerant rhamnolipid produced by *P. aeruginosa* could improve the oil recovery over the residual oil saturation of 8.82% in a core flooding system. Surfactin, when applied to the oil recovery process exhibits interesting pH dependency, e.g. emulsification in alkaline conditions and demulsification in acidic conditions. When in presence with surfactin, oil can thus undergo two different behaviours through a simple pH adjustment (Long et al., 2017).

#### 4.5 Biosurfactants for bioremediation and pollutants removal

Remediation of aquatic and terrestrial polluted environments is a challenging topic as physical collection methods often allow a limited recovery, and chemical methods can generate new damages to the environment (Dave, 2011). In this context, bioremediation offers attractive perspectives. Bioremediation may be carried out following two mechanisms: (i) one direct which involves the presence of the microorganism that degrades *in situ* the contaminant through its metabolism and (ii) one indirect that involves the use of microbial compounds (such as biosurfactants) to modify the physicochemical properties and help the recovery of the contaminant (Francis and Nancharaiah, 2015). When speaking of bioremediation, one often thinks of contamination of environments with hydrocarbons, which, incidentally, are these environments where many biosurfactant-producing microorganisms have been isolated (Datta et al., 2018; Pi et al., 2017; Sarkar et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2019). Biosurfactants, secreted by microorganisms and released into the hydrophobic medium, increase hydrocarbon bioavailability to the (same) microorganisms. In other words, the degradation of hydrocarbons in the presence of microorganisms is enhanced by the production of BS (Xue et al., 2019). For that matter, strategies of biostimulation and bioaugmentation of native microorganisms showed promising results in the degradation of sludge generated in an oil refinery (Roy et al., 2018).

Amongst the various chemical molecules, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), produced from incomplete combustion, are particularly recalcitrant (Patel and Patel, 2020). A strain of *P. aeruginosa* was efficient degrading crude oil and PAHs such as pyrene and

fluoranthene. Biosurfactants isolated from this same strain showed interesting results in hydrocarbons remobilization from oil-contaminated soils (Chebbi et al., 2017). Another strain of Acinetobacter baumannii isolated from a petroleum-contaminated soil was able to degrade pyrene. The growth of this strain on PAH as the sole carbon source was accompanied by BS production (Gupta et al., 2020). Selected strains can this way being combined in a bacterial consortium to improve the degradation of multiple PAH present in crude oil (Kumari et al., 2018). Direct volatile hydrocarbon removal can also be carried out using BS. Saponins in biotrickling filters significantly participated in hexane removal (Tu et al., 2015). It also has been reported that a biofilm containing a strain of *Pseudomonas* functioned as a (bio)filter for volatile organic compounds both degrading hexane and producing biosurfactants. Microorganisms that produce BS from hydrocarbons are valuable in biofilter systems because these can remove the pollution, avoiding biomass accumulation (He et al., 2020). Among the indirect bioremediation mechanisms involving BS, phytoremediation is a cost-effective technique to treat soils contaminated with crude oil. Liao et al. (2016) have shown that the addition of BS to the contaminated soil improved the oil degradation by the soil microorganisms in the presence of corn (Zea mays L.) through increased hydrocarbons accessibility and that rhamnolipids favoured the PAH uptake in the plant roots. A study revealed that the supplementation of BS from *Pseudozyma sp.* to a medium containing crude oil as sole carbon source, improved the oil degradation by *Pseudomonas putida* up to 46% (Sajna et al., 2015).

Composting is also an efficient way of handling biologically active and potentially hazardous species to obtain stabilized inert materials with potential fertilizer properties. The addition of BS during the chicken manure composting process was reported to improve the overall final qualities of such compost in terms of sanitization (higher peak of temperature during the thermophilic phase), fertilization (higher seed germination index), formation of humic acids (lower E4/E6 ratio) and organic matter degradation (higher cellulase activity). A metagenomic study revealed that these improved qualities were the consequence of increased diversity in microbial communities and subsequent diversity in metabolism, especially that

related to carbohydrate metabolism (Yin et al., 2019). Still during chicken manure composting, it has also been showed that the addition of rhamnolipids significantly reduced the relative abundance of the antibiotic resistance genes among the microbial communities through a mechanism of decrease of the bioavailability of the heavy metals present in the environment (Zhang et al., 2016).

Following the same idea, the addition of rhamnolipids during the fermentation of waste activated sludge improved the hydrolysis and acidification processes, notably by favouring the growth of functional microorganisms compared to the action of synthetic surfactants (Zhou et al., 2015). This process, when supplemented with free nitrous acid and tea saponin (a biosurfactant) improved the sludge solubilization, reducing the fermentation time and improving the short-chain fatty acids production (Xu et al., 2016). When considering anaerobic treatment of sludge, it has been shown that a pre-treatment consisting in the biomass disintegration using a biosurfactant-producing strain of *Planococcus jake* of a previously deflocculated sludge improved the biodigestibility (Kavitha et al., 2015). Pre-treatment of waste activated sludge with BS also enhanced the release of phosphorus, thus facilitating its recovery from the sludge (He et al., 2016).

#### 5 Solid-state fermentation (SSF) for biosurfactant production

There are currently two ways to produce BS: the submerged fermentation (SmF), also called liquid fermentation, and the solid-state fermentation (SSF). SSF is a microbial process occurring mostly on the surface of solid materials that have the property to absorb or contain water, with or without soluble nutrient (He et al., 2019; Pandey, 2003). SmF is the best-known methodology in the scientific literature and patents while SSF occupies a still very small but emerging space. Both techniques can use the same producing microorganisms, but results can be significantly different due to the large differences in conditions between the two types of cultivation regimen. Moreover, for a given bioprocess, SSF is often known to reduce the global cost in comparison to liquid fermentation (Sadh et al., 2018). The low water volume in SSF has

Page 15 of 50

a large impact on the economy of the process mainly due to smaller bioreactor size, reduced downstream processing, and lower sterilization costs. Besides, many SSF processes focus on the utilization of cheap agro-industrial byproducts as a culture medium (Venil et al., 2017). Although, it is not limited to SSF as studies using SmF for BS production also involve agroindustrial byproducts valorisation (Kourmentza et al., 2018; Moya Ramírez et al., 2015; Radzuan et al., 2017; Sharma et al., 2020).

To observe tendencies, an exhaustive study has been carried out on the scientific literature to highlight the microorganism type, biosurfactant type, production scale, and bioreactor type related to the BS production using SSF (Figure 1). One-third of research articles involves using strains of fungi and two-third for bacteria (Figure 1A). This is interesting because SSF processes traditionally involve more fungi than bacteria for their ability to grow at lower water activity values. Indeed, the low moisture content in the SSF medium means that fermentation can theoretically only be carried out by a limited number of microorganisms, mainly yeasts and fungi. This is justified by the fact that the evolution of higher fungi take place on solid growth substrates. Another interesting observation is that around 70% of the microorganisms that have been used were unicellular, whereas SSF processes are generally claimed to be optimized for filamentous growth which can penetrate through the interparticle spaces into the depth of the solid medium. The invasion of the solid matrix is optimized by both the hydrolytic enzymes secretion and the application of a mechanical force at the apex of the hypha, increasing the surface contact (King et al., 2017). The nutrients translocation within the filamentous web is also better adapted to cope with nutrient-poor areas to seek resources in media where nutrients are heterogeneously distributed. The two classes of BS produced through SSF are glycolipids and lipopeptides, with 26% of undetermined BS (Figure 1B). The production scale involves up to 80% laboratory-scale ranging from 0 to 250 g of medium, it is thus not surprising that 58% of the articles used flasks for microbial cultures (Figure 1C and D); only 2% of the scientific studies of BS production involve a scale ranging from 5 to 10 kg.

#### 5.1 Important factors for biosurfactant production in SSF

The most common factors influencing BS production may be physical (like temperature) or chemical (like pH and the nutrient sources). SSF involves microbial cultures in the near absence of free running water. Therefore, its moisture content is also of critical importance.

#### 5.1.1 Effect of pH on biosurfactant production

The pH values of the medium strongly affect many enzymatic, secondary metabolites production and transport of various components across the cell membrane. It is well-known that fungi can adapt to more acidic conditions than most bacteria. Concerning BS production in SSF, optimal pH conditions follow this trend. The best pH values for *A. fumigatus* and *P. djamor* are 4.5 and 5.5, respectively (Velioğlu and Ürek, 2016). Biosurfactant productions involving yeasts like *Starmerella bombicola* require pH values around 6 (Cerda et al., 2019; Jiménez-Peñalver et al., 2016). Regarding bacteria like *P. aeruginosa* and *B. subtilis*, optimal pH values range from neutral to slightly basic (7–8) (Zhu et al., 2013).

#### 5.1.2 Effect of temperature on biosurfactant production

Temperature is a critical parameter in SSF. Indeed, as the bioprocess progresses, metabolic heat is generated by the microorganism and because the solid media generally exhibit low thermal conductivities, the heat may accumulate in the medium leading to detrimental temperature increase and thermal gradients (Pandey, 2003). As optimum activity of each type of microorganisms takes place in a relatively well-defined range of temperatures, at which these operate most efficiently. BS production is depending on temperature. Filamentous fungi and yeasts require optimum values between 25°C and 30°C for optimal BS production (Jiménez-Peñalver et al., 2016; Lourenço et al., 2018). Rhamnolipid production requires optimal temperatures ranging from 30°C to 37°C following the strain of *P. aeruginosa* (Wu et al., 2017). Temperature greatly affects lipopeptide production, as in the case of *Bacillus cereus* (Nalini et al., 2016).

#### 5.1.3 Effect of moisture content on biosurfactant production

Like temperature, the initial moisture content of the medium may vary as the bioprocess progresses and the microorganism consumes the water and/or it is evaporated by the metabolic heat leading to water gradients in the bioreactor. The water content of the medium is therefore a critical factor in SSF systems as it affects the microbial growth rate and extent on the substrates and determines the product yield; low water content could retard cell growth and metabolite production. The water content of the medium is a critical factor in SSF systems that affects the microbial growth rate, extent on the substrates and determines the product yield. Low water content could retard cell growth and metabolite production. Appropriate water content would provide an ideal microenvironment for supporting growth and enhancing metabolite production (Zhu et al., 2013). BS producing filamentous fungi like A. fumigatus and T. versicolor and yeasts like S. bombicola exhibit optimal moisture values between 44.7% and 50% (Jiménez-Peñalver et al., 2016; Lourenço et al., 2018). These moisture values are particularly important because lower values tend to limit the growth of potential contaminants in SSF. Bacteria often require higher values of moisture (generally fungi and yeast have water activity requirements of around 0.5–0.6 and bacteria around 0.8–0.9) that may generate alternative issues of solid medium compaction leading to reduced gaseous transfers and favouring contamination (He et al., 2019); although successful examples of SSF carried out with bacteria do exist (Costa et al., 2018).

#### 5.1.4 Effect of the medium composition on biosurfactant production

Several carbon substrates have been used in many investigations. Indeed, the type and quantity of BS are influenced by the carbon source. Both the composition and concentration of the carbon source seem to be essential factors of BS congeners, yields and physicochemical properties. Yet, hydrophobic carbon sources were reported to be better than hydrophilic ones in promoting BS production (Ismail et al., 2015). The importance of hydrophobicity of the carbon sources for BS production is underlined by the fact that many producing microbes are commonly isolated from soils or water contaminated with hydrophobic wastes. BS production

however generally requires a medium containing the simultaneous presence of a hydrophilic and a hydrophobic carbon sources in the culture medium (Teixeira Souza et al., 2018). As a consequence, many solid media employed in SSF use oil containing byproducts from the oil extraction industry, or include vegetal oils –like sunflower seed oil– or crude oils –like diesel– in their final compositions (Jiménez-Peñalver et al., 2016).

Another important consideration to develop a production bioprocess is media consistency, quality, and availability in sufficient quantities. For that matter, it is interesting to supply solid byproducts directly from their producing industries to ensure availability of large quantities with standardized composition. Table 2 shows a list of solid media used for BS production by SSF in the scientific literature and highlights the diversity of potential of biomass valorisation.

In SSF, the physical properties of the media are also essential to provide an environment suitable for microbial growth and metabolite productions, BS production being generally an aerobic process. Factors such as the shape and size of solid particle, medium porosity, mass and energy transfers, hydrophilic and hydrophobic nature of solid particles are usually interdependent and essential to consider in SSF. A good medium texture is therefore essential and some media include solid support like wheat straw or sugarcane bagasse (El-Housseiny et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2013). These solid compounds only act as supports; they are not used directly in the nutrition of the microorganism but create a suitable physical environment reducing the porosity changes during the process. Fungal development may clog the empty spaces in the medium, the support material therefore, maintains the physical properties favourable for mass and heat transfers to take place, allowing for example, the gaseous phase inside the interparticle void to be regenerated in oxygen while it is consumed by the fungus (Carboué et al., 2018).

#### 5.1.5 Effect of nutrient supplementation on biosurfactant production

Natural byproducts have complex compositions and usually provide multiple nutrients to microorganisms that grow on them. However, these compounds are usually present in suboptimal quantities and, in this case, nutrient supplementation is needed to provide all

necessary compounds for optimum growth and production (Soccol et al., 2017). Some examples of supplements are copper and iron. Indeed, iron is recognized to be an important enzyme activator, specifically for the isocitrate lyase, an enzyme involved in cell growth on hydrophobic substrates. Each microorganism has its optimal cultivation conditions and requires specific compounds depending on the expected products. Thus, many studies imply experimental designs to search for the factors with significant positive effect and their optimal levels to increase BS production (Jiménez-Peñalver et al., 2018).

#### Scale up of SSF process for the production of biosurfactants 5.2

The scaling up of SSF process is often considered a technological bottleneck because the mass and energy transfers issues, leading to the accumulation of heat and the apparition of water and gas gradients inside the bioreactor bed, are amplified as the process scale increases (Lopez-Ramirez et al., 2018). In the case of aerobic bacterial metabolism which involves an important part of BS producing microorganisms, the metabolic heat generated could even be more amplified (bacteria generally grow faster than fungi).

Two mechanisms are usually presented as critical in managing heat removal at higher SSF production scales: cooling with water evaporation and agitation. Water evaporation is an endothermic process, for that reason, aeration with water-saturated air can be used to remove the metabolic heat produced during microbial growth and also to avoid the medium drying (Saucedo-Castañeda et al., 1994). Agitation counters the energy and mass gradients formation through bed mixing. The combination of both mechanisms is often required at industrial scales, as agitation facilitates the homogenization of the system and thus an equal distribution of the moisture and oxygen through the medium. In general, bioreactors are classified depending on the mechanisms of aeration and agitation. The type of microorganism strongly influences the choice of bioreactor. Filamentous microorganisms, for example, may be particularly sensitive to the shear forces (generated during agitation) that lead to the detachment of microorganisms from the solid medium, damage to mycelia, and ultimately to the reduction of BS production. So, it is often necessary to find a compromise between mass and energy transfers qualities and

б 

mycelial damages due to agitation. Some studies have reported good productions of spores and enzymes with filamentous fungi belonging to the genera *Aspergillus* and *Trichoderma* in agitated SSF systems with lower rotational speeds – ranging from 1 to 6 rpm – and/or intermittent mixings (Carboué et al., 2019; Finkler et al., 2017; Lopez-Ramirez et al., 2018).

Even though, reports of BS production using SSF at higher scales are very scarce (Figure 1C). Ano et al., (2009) carried out SSF in an agitated and aerated bioreactor on 2 kg of dry weight okara to produce iturin A using a strain of B. subtilis. Biosurfactant production was significantly reduced when mixing was carried out during the process, probably due to the reduction of biofilm formation. Under static conditions, they observed an important temperature gradient across the bed during the process but were able to control it with aeration of humidified air. The production of BS was very low when compared to those obtained at lower scales using the same substrate and strain. In another investigation at a laboratory scale (100 g of medium), Jiménez-Peñalver et al. (2016) showed that intermittent mixing increased the bioavailability of the substrates to the yeast and led to an increased production of sophorolipids. This result indicates that the process could be scaled up, not only to improve the yield but also to reduce channelling and overheating problems. To date, the largest production scale reported in the literature was achieve using a Bacillus amyloliquefaciens strain producing surfactins, in a forcefully aerated and agitated (rotational speed of 50 rpm) bioreactor on 9.25 kg of solid medium (Zhu et al., 2013). Interestingly, they did not observe any difference in the production yields between the static laboratory scaled culture and the agitated pilot-scaled culture, highlighting the absence of detrimental agitation effects on their process despite a higher rotational speed than the ones used for filamentous microorganisms.

Interestingly, the fact that BS producing microorganisms are a major part unicellular (bacteria and yeasts) may also change the established paradigm stating that the SSF is more adapted for filamentous microorganisms, allowing successful scale up through the implementation of stronger agitation regimes, thanks to a higher tolerance of unicellular microorganisms to the shear forces reducing heat and mass transfer limitations. We can therefore think that BS production not only benefits from the scientific advances made in SSF, but also actively participates to develop the discipline.

#### 5.3 Comparison of SSF vs SmF for the production of biosurfactants

Many investigations have highlighted that BS are produced in higher quantities using SSF in comparison to SmF, using same culture conditions e.g. temperature, nutrients concentration, agitation, etc. The product yield of hydrophobins (in mg/g of biomass) produced by P. ostraeus for example, was two-fold higher when produced in SSF than in SmF. Indeed, these proteins were secreted during adhesion of mycelia to solid support as these molecules are responsible for surface hydrophobicity of mycelia during binding to the hydrophobic substrate (Kulkarni et al., 2020). Rhamnolipids production in SSF was also reported at threefold higher than in SmF by El-Housseiny et al., (2019). Mizumoto et al. (2006) also observed similar results, as they obtained an iturin A production tenfold higher using SSF than that in SmF. They explained this difference with various hypotheses: as a secondary metabolite, iturin A is produced after the exponential growth phase, when nutrients become scarce in the medium. In SmF, the nutrients and oxygen are homogeneously distributed abundantly in the liquid medium, leading their bacterial strain to produce biomass rather than iturin A. In SSF systems, however, nutritional stress may be observed, as nutrients uptake becomes a limiting step due to heterogeneities in the liquid phase, thus promoting the secondary metabolism. Another hypothesis was based on the biological structure differences observed between the two types of process: in SSF, there is the formation of a biofilm that may be more suitable for iturin A production than the planktonic form of liquid culture.

The higher production obtained for BS in SSF compared to SmF however, is not a general rule: Sitohy et al. (2010) have shown that SmF gave higher quantities of BS using bacteria and yeast cultures than when SSF was used. This effect relies mostly on the strain and the culture conditions used, hence, ideally, a comparison should be made between SSF and SmF for every process, not only including quantitative and qualitative considerations, but also economical ones to choose the best option. Besides, it is also interesting to mention that these

Page 22 of 50

studies reporting better production of BS using SSF rather than SmF were mainly carried out at laboratory scale.

At present, the technological aspects, especially regarding process control, are more developed for the SmF than for SSF, and although there are counter-examples, SmF is the most prevalent cultivation method used in the fermentation industry (Prado et al., 2016). As an example, Novozymes, which is the world-leading enzyme producer, currently applies SmF for cellulase production (Hansen et al., 2015). Industrial BS productions make no exception and are still widely carried out using SmF (Brumano et al., 2016). The main reason for the lack of industrial-scaled SSF bioreactor is the absence of efficient mathematical models backing the bioreactor designs and automated control system that could successfully represent and overcome the heterogeneity of the bioreactor bed with respect to the heat and mass transfers (Arora et al., 2018). Technical issues specific to the BS production in SmF however are particularly encountered at the industrial scale. One of them is the production of foam because of the important air-liquid interface. In SmF, liquid phase constitutes the culture medium and in the case of BS production, an excess of foam is often generated during the fermentation, especially at intense agitation and aeration which is generally the case of microorganisms that produce BS (predominantly under aerobic conditions), favouring the dispersion at the interface between phases and the risk of contaminations. Microorganisms are carried into the foam layer by froth flotation; thus, foaming may decrease the effective biocatalyst concentration in the bulk liquid, affecting the global bioprocess performance and often creating interferences with the measurement and sampling material. As a consequence, many industrial-scaled BS productions processes require the use of antifoam agents that increases the overall cost of the process. SSF enhance  $O_2$  transfer without foam production mitigating the risk of contamination. The use of SSF, involving reduced amounts of free water, therefore could be an alternate method for BS production (Krieger et al., 2010).

Regarding the downstream process, the extraction in SSF is usually considered more difficult than in SmF because of the complex nature of the agro-industrial byproducts used as

solid medium that display a bigger diversity of interaction (medium-product and mediumsolvent) which as a result can lead to the presence of residual impurities in the crude extract. Nonetheless, in practice, the required degree of purity for a product depends on the intended application (Singhania et al., 2009). Thereby, some sectors like health or cosmetics, e.g. involving direct contact with living beings including humans, are particularly sensitive to the composition and require very high grades of purity. For this type of finer applications, improved separation techniques such as preparative HPLC will be required; even these types of applications will require using more refined raw materials. On the other hand, the direct use of fermented medium or crude extracts without further purification is appropriate for many other applications. In the case where microorganisms would still be present and active in the product (e.g. dry fermented medium containing conidia), it may be important to carry out the bioprocess with GRAS microorganisms.

It has been widely mentioned that production costs associated with BS production, especially the downstream processes, can limit their general application (Jimoh and Lin, 2019; Najmi et al., 2018). Because of that, an important emphasis is put on the search for mechanisms to decrease the total cost of the process. In the last five years, innovative technologies of integrated process of fermentation and simultaneous extraction have emerged, involving for example integrated gravity-based separation processes that greatly improve productivity, process cycles and production costs (Dolman et al., 2019). Although developed for SmF, integrated these separation processes can be envisaged in the future for SSF, particularly in the case of continuous or semi-continuous processes involving a plug-flow bioreactor with separated fermentation and extraction compartments which is similar to the process developed by Gibbons et al. (1988) for a semicontinuous production and extraction of ethanol.

#### **6** Future potentials

The future of biosurfactant uses is huge because they cover and sometimes exceed the scope of synthetic surfactants. Their implementation in productive and daily life will involve most ecological aspects such as (i) reducing exposure of dangerous chemical substances, not only for humans but also for plants and animals, (ii) reducing carbon footprint, and (iii) boosting the circular economy. Small amounts of these biological surfactants have been shown to produce the same effects in terms of surface activities as commercial chemical surfactants. Therefore, finished surfactant bio-based products (detergents, shampoos, soaps, cleaning agents, etc.) could simply contain biosurfactants in very small quantities either as main components or adjuvant components that enhances overall activity. Using modest but significant loads of biosurfactants into formulations automatically would reduce the scale of their production and consequently the scale of their purification processes (if necessary). This approach can bring biosurfactants to markets in a shorter time than expected. Not too many commercial examples are emerging nowadays in different parts of the world.

The generation of innovative technologies for production, control, separation, purification, characterization, and performance evaluations shows a promising future for biotechnological exploitation of biosurfactants. Many studies therefore work on overcoming the technological bottlenecks and, amongst them, SSF can be an interesting candidate. Although the publishable activity on BS production via SSF is more recent and does not follow the same exponential tendency as SmF, it is likely to think that this culture technique will turn into something established in the near future in the biotechnological industry. This will not only take place in the academic world, but also as a relevant strategy for chemical industry to produce biobased products with interesting yields, lower costs and through a possible valorisation of byproducts and industrial wastes. The advances in SSF are accompanied by the evolution of chemical engineering, modelling and biotechnology, which contribute to understanding and decreasing specific technological limitations (e.g. heat removal) and facilitating its integration in processes at pilot and industrial scales (Jin et al., 2020, 2019; Pessoa et al., 2019; Zeng et al., 2019).

Processes involving microorganisms with good tolerance to higher agitation may also hold an interesting potential approach for scale-up.

Finally, the increase of good and efficient relationships between academia and industry worldwide, mediated by the public opinion on a better recognition of the sustainability aspect in the production practices will also contribute to this impulse. The current battle against the Covid-19 may become a good example as a driving force behind such evolution.

#### 7 Conclusions

Biosurfactants is a fascinating topic for innovation, research and sustainable development. Interest has become notable in recent years due to the discovery of new applications in relevant industrial sectors and the growing urgency of greener industrial processes. However, the use of biosurfactants on a large scale is still limited by competitive production costs. Consequently, the imminent replacement of synthetic materials by biosurfactants is not realistic, but a partial and progressive introduction of biosurfactants is more likely to occur in small quantities via innovative formulations that will play essential roles in the transition from the petrochemical industry towards the circular economy.

#### 8 Acknowledgments

We thank the National Council of Science and Technology of Mexico (CONACyT) and Polioles S.A. de C.V. for supporting the PEI innovation projects: 221262, 231833 and 250609. The Metropolitan Autonomous University is also thanked for the post-doctoral fellowship of QC.

#### 9 References

 Anjum, F., Gautam, G., Edgard, G., Negi, S., 2016. Biosurfactant production through *Bacillus sp.* MTCC 5877 and its multifarious applications in food industry. Bioresource Technology 213, 262–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.02.091

- Ano, T., Jin, G.Y., Mizumoto, S., Mohammad Shahedur, R., Okuno, K., Shoda, M., 2009. Solid state fermentation of lipopeptide antibiotic iturin A by using a novel solid state fermentation reactor system. Journal of Environmental Sciences 21, S162–S165. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-0742(09)60064-4
- Arora, S., Rani, R., Ghosh, S., 2018. Bioreactors in solid state fermentation technology: Design, applications and engineering aspects. Journal of Biotechnology 269, 16–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2018.01.010
- Asgher, M., Arshad, S., Qamar, S.A., Khalid, N., 2020. Improved biosurfactant production from *Aspergillus niger* through chemical mutagenesis: characterization and RSM optimization. SN Appl. Sci. 2, 966. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-020-2783-3
- Banat, I.M., Satpute, S.K., Cameotra, S.S., Patil, R., Nyayanit, N.V., 2014b. Cost effective technologies and renewable substrates for biosurfactants production. Front. Microbiol. 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00697
- Bhange, K., Chaturvedi, V., Bhatt, R., 2016. Simultaneous production of detergent stable keratinolytic protease, amylase and biosurfactant by *Bacillus subtilis PF1* using agro industrial waste. Biotechnology Reports 10, 94–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2016.03.007
- Borah, S.N., Sen, S., Goswami, L., Bora, A., Pakshirajan, K., Deka, S., 2019. Rice based distillers dried grains with solubles as a low cost substrate for the production of a novel rhamnolipid biosurfactant having anti-biofilm activity against *Candida tropicalis*. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces 182, 110358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2019.110358
- Bouassida, M., Fourati, N., Ghazala, I., Ellouze-Chaabouni, S., Ghribi, D., 2018. Potential application of *Bacillus subtilis* SPB1 biosurfactants in laundry detergent formulations: Compatibility study with detergent ingredients and washing performance. Eng. Life Sci. 18, 70–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.201700152
- Brigitte, L., Schelges, H., Tretyakova, M., 2017a. PEG-free cosmetic cleaning agents with biosurfactants. DE102015217503.

- Brigitte, L., Schelges, H., Tretyakova, M., 2017b. Bio-surfactants containing cosmetic detergents with prebiotic activity. DE102015217507.
- Brück, H.L., Delvigne, F., Dhulster, P., Jacques, P., Coutte, F., 2019. Molecular strategies for adapting *Bacillus subtilis* 168 biosurfactant production to biofilm cultivation mode. Bioresource Technology 293, 122090. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122090
- Brumano, L.P., Soler, M.F., da Silva, S.S., 2016. Recent Advances in Sustainable Production and Application of Biosurfactants in Brazil and Latin America. Industrial Biotechnology 12, 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1089/ind.2015.0027
- Camilios-Neto, D., Bugay, C., de Santana-Filho, A.P., Joslin, T., de Souza, L.M., Sassaki, G.L., Mitchell, D.A., Krieger, N., 2011. Production of rhamnolipids in solid-state cultivation using a mixture of sugarcane bagasse and corn bran supplemented with glycerol and soybean oil. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 89, 1395–1403. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2987-3
- 14. Campbell, K.B., Weers, J.J., 2016. Methods and compositions for decreasing the viscosity of hydrocarbon-based fluids during refining. US 20160032161.
- Carboué, Q., Claeys-Bruno, M., Bombarda, I., Sergent, M., Jolain, J., Roussos, S., 2018. Experimental design and solid state fermentation: A holistic approach to improve cultural medium for the production of fungal secondary metabolites. Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems 176, 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemolab.2018.03.011
- 16. Carboué, Q., Rébufa, C., Dupuy, N., Roussos, S., Bombarda, I., 2019. Solid state fermentation pilot-scaled plug flow bioreactor, using partial least square regression to predict the residence time in a semicontinuous process. Biochemical Engineering Journal 149, 107248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2019.107248
- Castiglioni, G., Stanescu, G., Rocha, L.A.O., Costa, J.A.V., 2013. Analytical modeling and numerical optimization of the biosurfactants production in solid-state fermentation by *Aspergillus fumigatus*. Acta Scientiarum. Technology 36. https://doi.org/10.4025/actascitechnol.v36i1.17818

- Cerda, A., Mejias, L., Rodríguez, P., Rodríguez, A., Artola, A., Font, X., Gea, T., Sánchez, A., 2019. Valorisation of digestate from biowaste through solid-state fermentation to obtain value added bioproducts: A first approach. Bioresource Technology 271, 409–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.09.131
- Chebbi, A., Hentati, D., Zaghden, H., Baccar, N., Rezgui, F., Chalbi, M., Sayadi, S., Chamkha, M., 2017. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degradation and biosurfactant production by a newly isolated *Pseudomonas sp.* strain from used motor oil-contaminated soil. International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation 122, 128–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2017.05.006
- Costa, J.A.V., Treichel, H., Kumar, V., Pandey, A., 2018. Advances in Solid-State Fermentation, in: Pandey, A., Larroche, C., Soccol, C.R. (Eds.), Current Developments in Biotechnology and Bioengineering. Elsevier, pp. 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63990-5.00001-3
- Das, A.J., Kumar, R., 2018. Utilization of agro-industrial waste for biosurfactant production under submerged fermentation and its application in oil recovery from sand matrix. Bioresource Technology 260, 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.03.093
- 22. Das, K., Mukherjee, A.K., 2007. Comparison of lipopeptide biosurfactants production by *Bacillus subtilis* strains in submerged and solid state fermentation systems using a cheap carbon source: Some industrial applications of biosurfactants. Process Biochemistry 42, 1191–1199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2007.05.011
- 23. Datta, P., Tiwari, P., Pandey, L.M., 2018. Isolation and characterization of biosurfactant producing and oil degrading *Bacillus subtilis* MG495086 from formation water of Assam oil reservoir and its suitability for enhanced oil recovery. Bioresource Technology 270, 439–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.09.047
- 24. Dave, 2011. Remediation Technologies for Marine Oil Spills: A Critical Review and Comparative Analysis. American Journal of Environmental Sciences 7, 424–440. https://doi.org/10.3844/ajessp.2011.424.440

Page 29 of 50

- De Rose, S.A., Lang, D.A., Littlechild-Bond, J.A., Novak, H.R., Singh, S., 2017a. Laundry detergent composition and laundering process. WO 2017036901.
- De Rose, S.A., Lang, D.A., Littlechild-Bond, J.A., Novak, H.R., Singh, S., 2017b. Detergent compositions with lipase and biosurfactant. WO2017036902.
- Delbeke, E.I.P., Movsisyan, M., Van Geem, K.M., Stevens, C.V., 2016. Chemical and enzymatic modification of sophorolipids. Green Chem. 18, 76–104. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5GC02187A
- Dhanarajan, G., Sen, R., 2014. Cost Analysis of Biosurfactant Production from a Scientist's Perspective, in: Kosaric, N., Sukan, F. (Eds.), Biosurfactants. CRC Press, pp. 153–162. https://doi.org/10.1201/b17599-12
- Díaz De Rienzo, M.A., Stevenson, P.S., Marchant, R., Banat, I.M., 2016. Effect of biosurfactants on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilms in a BioFlux channel. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 100, 5773–5779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-016-7310-5
- Dolman, B.M., Wang, F., Winterburn, J.B., 2019. Integrated production and separation of biosurfactants. Process Biochemistry 83, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2019.05.002
- El-Housseiny, G.S., Aboshanab, K.M., Aboulwafa, M.M., Hassouna, N.A., 2019.
   Rhamnolipid production by a gamma ray-induced *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* mutant under solid state fermentation. AMB Express 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-018-0732-y
- 32. Farias, J.M., Stamford, T.C.M., Resende, A.H.M., Aguiar, J.S., Rufino, R.D., Luna, J.M., Sarubbo, L.A., 2019. Mouthwash containing a biosurfactant and chitosan: An ecosustainable option for the control of cariogenic microorganisms. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 129, 853–860. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.02.090
- Farmer, S., Alibek, K., Adams, K., Karathur, K.N., Nerris, A., 2018a. Treatment for upgrading heavy crude oil. WO2018237137 A1.

- 34. Farmer, S., Alibek, K., Adams, K., Mazumder, S., Dixon, T., Chen, Y., Milovanovic, M., 2018b. Multifunctional composition for enhanced oil recovery, improved oil quality and prevention of corrosion. WO2018191172 A1.
- Farmer, S., Alibek, K., Karathur, K.N., 2019. Production of yeasts for recovering oil from oil sands. WO2019067356 A1.
- Farmer, S., Alibek, K., Lefkowitz, A.R., Karathur, K.N., Shumway, M.R., Moldakozhayev, A., Nerris, A., Dixon, T., 2020. Methods for paraffin removal and extended post-primary oil recovery. WO2020041258 A1.
- 37. Fei, D., Zhou, G., Yu, Z., Gang, H., Liu, J., Yang, S., Ye, R., Mu, B., 2020. Low- Toxic and Nonirritant Biosurfactant Surfactin and its Performances in Detergent Formulations. J Surfactants Deterg 23, 109–118. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsde.12356
- 38. Fernández-Peña, L., Guzmán, E., Leonforte, F., Serrano-Pueyo, A., Regulski, K., Tournier-Couturier, L., Ortega, F., Rubio, R.G., Luengo, G.S., 2020. Effect of molecular structure of eco-friendly glycolipid biosurfactants on the adsorption of hair-care conditioning polymers. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces 185, 110578.
  - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2019.110578
- Ferreira, A., Vecino, X., Ferreira, D., Cruz, J.M., Moldes, A.B., Rodrigues, L.R., 2017. Novel cosmetic formulations containing a biosurfactant from *Lactobacillus paracasei*. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces 155, 522–529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.04.026
- 40. Finkler, A.T.J., Biz, A., Pitol, L.O., Medina, B.S., Luithardt, H., Luz, L.F. de L., Krieger, N., Mitchell, D.A., 2017. Intermittent agitation contributes to uniformity across the bed during pectinase production by *Aspergillus niger* grown in solid-state fermentation in a pilot-scale packed-bed bioreactor. Biochemical Engineering Journal 121, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2017.01.011

- Fracchia, L., Banat, J.J., Cavallo, M., Banat, I.M., 2015. Potential therapeutic applications of microbial surface-active compounds. AIMS Bioengineering 2, 144–162. https://doi.org/10.3934/bioeng.2015.3.144
- Francis, A.J., Nancharaiah, Y.V., 2015. In situ and ex situ bioremediation of radionuclidecontaminated soils at nuclear and norm sites, in: van Velzen, L. (Ed.), Environmental Remediation and Restoration of Contaminated Nuclear and NORM Sites. Elsevier, pp. 185– 236. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-78242-231-0.00009-0
- Funston, S.J., Tsaousi, K., Rudden, M., Smyth, T.J., Stevenson, P.S., Marchant, R., Banat, I.M., 2016. Characterising rhamnolipid production in *Burkholderia thailandensis* E264, a non-pathogenic producer. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 100, 7945–7956. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-016-7564-y
- Gaur, V.K., Regar, R.K., Dhiman, N., Gautam, K., Srivastava, J.K., Patnaik, S., Kamthan, M., Manickam, N., 2019. Biosynthesis and characterization of sophorolipid biosurfactant by *Candida spp*.: Application as food emulsifier and antibacterial agent. Bioresource Technology 285, 121314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.121314
- 45. Gaur, V.K., Tripathi, V., Gupta, P., Dhiman, N., Regar, R.K., Gautam, K., Srivastava, J.K., Patnaik, S., Patel, D.K., Manickam, N., 2020. Rhamnolipids from *Planococcus spp.* and their mechanism of action against pathogenic bacteria. Bioresource Technology 307, 123206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123206
- Gibbons, W.R., Westby, C.A., Arnold, E., 1988. Semicontinuous diffusion fermentation of fodder beets for fuel ethanol and cubed protein feed production. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 31, 696–704. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260310710
- 47. Glam Research, 2020. Global biosurfactant market by product type (glycolipids, phospholipids and fatty acids) and by end-users/application (environment, agriculture) global market share, forecast data, in-depth analysis, and detailed overview, and forecast, 2013 2026 (No. EM-334599).

- Griffin, P.W., Hammond, G.P., Norman, J.B., 2018. Industrial energy use and carbon emissions reduction in the chemicals sector: A UK perspective. Applied Energy 227, 587– 602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.08.010
- Guerfali, M., Ayadi, I., Mohamed, N., Ayadi, W., Belghith, H., Bronze, M.R., Ribeiro, M.H.L., Gargouri, A., 2019. Triacylglycerols accumulation and glycolipids secretion by the oleaginous yeast *Rhodotorula babjevae* Y-SL7: Structural identification and biotechnological applications. Bioresource Technology 273, 326–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.11.036
- Gunawan, S., Vorderbruggen, M.A., Armstrong, C.D., 2015. Method of using biosurfactants as acid corrosion inhibitors in well treatment operations. US 20160237334.
- 51. Gupta, B., Puri, S., Thakur, I.S., Kaur, J., 2020. Enhanced pyrene degradation by a biosurfactant producing *Acinetobacter baumannii* BJ5: Growth kinetics, toxicity and substrate inhibition studies. Environmental Technology & Innovation 19, 100804. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2020.100804
- 52. Hansen, G.H., Lübeck, M., Frisvad, J.C., Lübeck, P.S., Andersen, B., 2015. Production of cellulolytic enzymes from ascomycetes: Comparison of solid state and submerged fermentation. Process Biochemistry 50, 1327–1341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2015.05.017
- Hartung, C., Kortemeier, U., Langer, S., Schwab, P., Westerholt, U., 2013. Cosmetic formulation containing copolymer and sulfosuccinate and/or biosurfactant. DE102013206314A.
- 54. He, Q., Peng, H., Sheng, M., Hu, S., Qiu, J., Gu, J., 2019. Humidity Control Strategies for Solid-State Fermentation: Capillary Water Supply by Water-Retention Materials and Negative-Pressure Auto-controlled Irrigation. Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 7, 263. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00263
- 55. He, S., Ni, Y., Lu, L., Chai, Q., Yu, T., Shen, Z., Yang, C., 2020. Simultaneous degradation of n-hexane and production of biosurfactants by *Pseudomonas sp.* strain NEE2 isolated

from oil-contaminated soils. Chemosphere 242, 125237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.125237

- 56. He, Z.-W., Liu, W.-Z., Wang, L., Yang, C.-X., Guo, Z.-C., Zhou, A.-J., Liu, J.-Y., Wang, A.-J., 2016. Role of extracellular polymeric substances in enhancement of phosphorus release from waste activated sludge by rhamnolipid addition. Bioresource Technology 202, 59–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.11.086
- 57. Henkel, M., Hausmann, R., 2019. Chapter 2. Diversity and classification of microbial surfactants, in: Hayes, D.G., Solaiman, D.K.Y., Ashby, R.D. (Eds.), Biobased Surfactants -Synthesis, Properties, and Applications. Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp. 41–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2016-0-03179-0
- Hmidet, N., Jemil, N., Nasri, M., 2019. Simultaneous production of alkaline amylase and biosurfactant by *Bacillus methylotrophicus* DCS1: application as detergent additive. Biodegradation 30, 247–258. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-018-9847-8
- Irorere, V.U., Tripathi, L., Marchant, R., McClean, S., Banat, I.M., 2017. Microbial rhamnolipid production: a critical re-evaluation of published data and suggested future publication criteria. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 101, 3941–3951. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8262-0
- 60. Ismail, W., Shammary, S.AL., El-Sayed, W.S., Obuekwe, C., El Nayal, A.M., Abdul Raheem, A.S., Al-Humam, A., 2015. Stimulation of rhamnolipid biosurfactants production in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* AK6U by organosulfur compounds provided as sulfur sources. Biotechnology Reports 7, 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2015.03.001
- Jiménez-Peñalver, P., Castillejos, M., Koh, A., Gross, R., Sánchez, A., Font, X., Gea, T., 2018. Production and characterization of sophorolipids from stearic acid by solid-state fermentation, a cleaner alternative to chemical surfactants. Journal of Cleaner Production 172, 2735–2747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.11.138
- 62. Jiménez-Peñalver, P., Gea, T., Sánchez, A., Font, X., 2016. Production of sophorolipids from winterization oil cake by solid-state fermentation: Optimization, monitoring and effect

of mixing. Biochemical Engineering Journal 115, 93–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2016.08.006

- G3. Jiménez- Peñalver, P., Koh, A., Gross, R., Gea, T., Font, X., 2020. Biosurfactants from Waste: Structures and Interfacial Properties of Sophorolipids Produced from a Residual Oil Cake. J Surfactants Deterg 23, 481–486. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsde.12366
- 64. Jimoh, A.A., Lin, J., 2019. Biosurfactant: A new frontier for greener technology and environmental sustainability. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 184, 109607. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.109607
- 65. Jin, G., Uhl, P., Zhu, Y., Wijffels, R.H., Xu, Y., Rinzema, A., 2020. Modeling of industrialscale anaerobic solid-state fermentation for Chinese liquor production. Chemical Engineering Journal 394, 124942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.124942
- 66. Jin, G., Zhu, Y., Rinzema, A., Wijffels, R.H., Ge, X., Xu, Y., 2019. Water dynamics during solid-state fermentation by *Aspergillus oryzae* YH6. Bioresource Technology 277, 68–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.01.038
- 67. Jones, C.A., Stevenson, P.S., 2016. Perfumed fluid cleaning fluids comprising glycolipid biosurfactant and ethoxylated polyethylene imine. WO 2016139133.
- Kavitha, S., Saranya, T., Kaliappan, S., Adish Kumar, S., Yeom, I.T., Rajesh Banu, J.,
   2015. Accelerating the sludge disintegration potential of a novel bacterial strain
   *Planococcus jake* 01 by CaCl<sub>2</sub> induced deflocculation. Bioresource Technology 175, 396–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.10.122
- Ke, C.-Y., Lu, G.-M., Wei, Y.-L., Sun, W.-J., Hui, J.-F., Zheng, X.-Y., Zhang, Q.-Z., Zhang, X.-L., 2019. Biodegradation of crude oil by *Chelatococcus daeguensis* HB-4 and its potential for microbial enhanced oil recovery (MEOR) in heavy oil reservoirs. Bioresource Technology 287, 121442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.121442
- 70. Khalid, H.F., Tehseen, B., Sarwar, Y., Hussain, S.Z., Khan, W.S., Raza, Z.A., Bajwa, S.Z., Kanaras, A.G., Hussain, I., Rehman, A., 2019. Biosurfactant coated silver and iron oxide

nanoparticles with enhanced anti-biofilm and anti-adhesive properties. Journal of Hazardous Materials 364, 441–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2018.10.049

- 71. King, R., Urban, M., Lauder, R.P., Hawkins, N., Evans, M., Plummer, A., Halsey, K., Lovegrove, A., Hammond-Kosack, K., Rudd, J.J., 2017. A conserved fungal glycosyltransferase facilitates pathogenesis of plants by enabling hyphal growth on solid surfaces. PLoS Pathog 13, e1006672. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1006672
- 72. Kiran, G.S., Nishanth, L.A., Priyadharshini, S., Anitha, K., Selvin, J., 2014. Effect of Fe nanoparticle on growth and glycolipid biosurfactant production under solid state culture by marine *Nocardiopsis sp.* MSA13A. BMC Biotechnology 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6750-14-48
- 73. Kiran, G.S., Thomas, T.A., Selvin, J., 2010. Production of a new glycolipid biosurfactant from marine *Nocardiopsis lucentensis* MSA04 in solid-state cultivation. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces 78, 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2010.01.028
- 74. Knoth, D., Rincón-Fontán, M., Stahr, P.-L., Pelikh, O., Eckert, R.-W., Dietrich, H., Cruz, J.M., Moldes, A.B., Keck, C.M., 2019. Evaluation of a biosurfactant extract obtained from corn for dermal application. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 564, 225–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.04.048
- 75. Kourmentza, C., Costa, J., Azevedo, Z., Servin, C., Grandfils, C., De Freitas, V., Reis, M.A.M., 2018. Burkholderia thailandensis as a microbial cell factory for the bioconversion of used cooking oil to polyhydroxyalkanoates and rhamnolipids. Bioresource Technology 247, 829–837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09.138
- 76. Kreling, N.E., Simon, V., Fagundes, V.D., Thomé, A., Colla, L.M., 2020. Simultaneous Production of Lipases and Biosurfactants in Solid-State Fermentation and Use in Bioremediation. J. Environ. Eng. 146, 04020105. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)EE.1943-7870.0001785

- 77. Krieger, N., Neto, D.C., Mitchell, D.A., 2010. Production of Microbial Biosurfactants by Solid-State Cultivation, in: Sen, R. (Ed.), Biosurfactants. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp. 203–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-5979-9\_15
- 78. Kulkarni, S.S., Nene, S.N., Joshi, K.S., 2020. A comparative study of production of hydrophobin like proteins (HYD-LPs) in submerged liquid and solid state fermentation from white rot fungus *Pleurotus ostreatus*. Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology 23, 101440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2019.101440
- 79. Kumari, S., Regar, R.K., Manickam, N., 2018. Improved polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degradation in a crude oil by individual and a consortium of bacteria. Bioresource Technology 254, 174–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.01.075
- Li, X., Ying, G.-G., Zhao, J.-L., Chen, Z.-F., Lai, H.-J., Su, H.-C., 2013. 4-Nonylphenol, bisphenol-A and triclosan levels in human urine of children and students in China, and the effects of drinking these bottled materials on the levels. Environment International 52, 81– 86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.03.026
- 81. Liao, C., Xu, W., Lu, G., Deng, F., Liang, X., Guo, C., Dang, Z., 2016. Biosurfactantenhanced phytoremediation of soils contaminated by crude oil using maize (*Zea mays* L.). Ecological Engineering 92, 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2016.03.041
- 82. Long, X., He, N., He, Y., Jiang, J., Wu, T., 2017. Biosurfactant surfactin with pH-regulated emulsification activity for efficient oil separation when used as emulsifier. Bioresource Technology 241, 200–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.120
- 83. Lopez-Ramirez, N., Volke-Sepulveda, T., Gaime-Perraud, I., Saucedo-Castañeda, G., Favela-Torres, E., 2018. Effect of stirring on growth and cellulolytic enzymes production by *Trichoderma harzianum* in a novel bench-scale solid-state fermentation bioreactor. Bioresource Technology 265, 291–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.06.015
- Lourenço, L.A., Alberton Magina, M.D., Tavares, L.B.B., Guelli Ulson de Souza, S.M.A., García Román, M., Altmajer Vaz, D., 2018. Biosurfactant production by *Trametes*

*versicolor* grown on two-phase olive mill waste in solid-state fermentation. Environmental Technology 39, 3066–3076. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2017.1374471

- Marchant, R., Banat, I.M., 2012. Microbial biosurfactants: challenges and opportunities for future exploitation. Trends in Biotechnology 30, 558–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2012.07.003
- Martins, V.G., Kalil, S.J., Costa, J.A.V., 2009. In situ bioremediation using biosurfactant produced by solid state fermentation. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 25, 843–851. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-009-9955-z
- Mittal, A., Manjunath, K., Ranjan, R.K., Kaushik, S., Kumar, S., Verma, V., 2020.
   COVID-19 pandemic: Insights into structure, function, and hACE2 receptor recognition by SARS-CoV-2. PLoS Pathog 16, e1008762. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1008762
- Mizumoto, S., Hirai, M., Shoda, M., 2006. Production of lipopeptide antibiotic iturin A using soybean curd residue cultivated with *Bacillus subtilis* in solid-state fermentation. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 72, 869–875. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-006-0389-3
- Mnif, I., Elleuch, M., Chaabouni, S.E., Ghribi, D., 2013. *Bacillus subtilis* SPB1 biosurfactant: Production optimization and insecticidal activity against the carob moth *Ectomyelois ceratoniae*. Crop Protection 50, 66–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2013.03.005
- 90. Moya Ramírez, I., Tsaousi, K., Rudden, M., Marchant, R., Jurado Alameda, E., García Román, M., Banat, I.M., 2015. Rhamnolipid and surfactin production from olive oil mill waste as sole carbon source. Bioresource Technology 198, 231–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.09.012
- 91. Najmi, Z., Ebrahimipour, G., Franzetti, A., Banat, I.M., 2018. *In situ* downstream strategies for cost-effective bio/surfactant recovery: Strategies for Cost-Effective Bio/Surfactant Recovery. Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry 65, 523–532. https://doi.org/10.1002/bab.1641

- 92. Nalini, S., Parthasarathi, R., 2014. Production and characterization of rhamnolipids produced by *Serratia rubidaea* SNAU02 under solid-state fermentation and its application as biocontrol agent. Bioresource Technology 173, 231–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.051
- 93. Nalini, S., Parthasarathi, R., Prabudoss, V., 2016. Production and characterization of lipopeptide from *Bacillus cereus* SNAU01 under solid state fermentation and its potential application as anti-biofilm agent. Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology 5, 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2016.01.007
- 94. Ohno, A., Ano, T., Shoda, M., 1996. Use of soybean curd residue, okara, for the solid state substrate in the production of a lipopeptide antibiotic, iturin A, by *Bacillus subtilis* NB22. Process Biochemistry 31, 801–806. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0032-9592(96)00034-9
- Pandey, A., 2003. Solid-state fermentation. Biochemical Engineering Journal 13, 81–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-703X(02)00121-3
- 96. Patel, K., Patel, M., 2020. Improving bioremediation process of petroleum wastewater using biosurfactants producing *Stenotrophomonas sp.* S1VKR-26 and assessment of phytotoxicity. Bioresource Technology 315, 123861. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123861
- Perfumo, A., Banat, I.M., Marchant, R., 2018. Going Green and Cold: Biosurfactants from Low-Temperature Environments to Biotechnology Applications. Trends in Biotechnology 36, 277–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2017.10.016
- Pessoa, D.R., Finkler, A.T.J., Machado, A.V.L., Mitchell, D.A., de Lima Luz Jr, L.F.,
   2019. CFD simulation of a packed-bed solid-state fermentation bioreactor. Applied
   Mathematical Modelling 70, 439–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apm.2019.01.032
- Pi, Y., Chen, B., Bao, M., Fan, F., Cai, Q., Ze, L., Zhang, B., 2017. Microbial degradation of four crude oil by biosurfactant producing strain *Rhodococcus sp.* Bioresource Technology 232, 263–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.02.007

Page 39 of 50

- 100. Piedrahíta-Aguirre, C.A., Bastos, R.G., Carvalho, A.L., Monte Alegre, R., 2014. The influence of process parameters in production of lipopeptide iturin A using aerated packed bed bioreactors in solid-state fermentation. Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering 37, 1569–1576. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-014-1129-1
- 101. Prado, L.A., Buenrostro Figueroa, J.J., Rodriguez-Duran, L.V., Aguilar, C.N., Hennigs, C.,
  2016. Fermentative Production Methods, in: Poltronieri, P., D'Urso, O.F. (Eds.),
  Biotransformation of Agricultural Waste and By-Products: The Food, Feed, Fibre, Fuel
  (4F) Economy. Elsevier, pp. 189–217.
- 102. Pryor, S.W., Siebert, K.J., Gibson, D.M., Gossett, J.M., Walker, L.P., 2007. Modeling Production of Antifungal Compounds and Their Role in Biocontrol Product Inhibitory Activity. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 55, 9530–9536. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0719252
- 103. Radzuan, M.N., Banat, I.M., Winterburn, J., 2017. Production and characterization of rhamnolipid using palm oil agricultural refinery waste. Bioresource Technology 225, 99– 105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.11.052
- 104. Ranjbar, S., Hejazi, P., 2019. Modeling and validating *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* kinetic parameters based on simultaneous effect of bed temperature and moisture content using lignocellulosic substrate in packed-bed bioreactor. Food and Bioproducts Processing 117, 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbp.2019.06.006
- 105. Ribeaux, D.R., Jackes De Oliveira, C.V., Maia De Medeiros, A.D., Dos Santos Marinho, J., Uira, L., Ferreia Do Nascimento, I.D., Cabral Barreto, G., Takaki, G., 2020. Innovative Production of Biosurfactant by *Candida tropicalis* Ucp 1613 Through Solid-state Fermentation. Chem. Eng. Trans. 79, 361–366. https://doi.org/10.3303/CET2079061
- 106. Rincón-Fontán, M., Rodríguez-López, L., Vecino, X., Cruz, J.M., Moldes, A.B., 2020.
  Potential application of a multifunctional biosurfactant extract obtained from corn as stabilizing agent of vitamin C in cosmetic formulations. Sustainable Chemistry and Pharmacy 16, 100248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scp.2020.100248

- 107. Rodríguez, A., Gea, T., Sánchez, A., Font, X., 2020. Agro-wastes and Inert Materials as Supports for the Production of Biosurfactants by Solid-state Fermentation. Waste Biomass Valor. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-020-01148-5
- 108. Rodríguez-López, L., Rincón-Fontán, M., Vecino, X., Cruz, J.M., Moldes, A.B., 2020. Study of biosurfactant extract from corn steep water as a potential ingredient in antiacne formulations. Journal of Dermatological Treatment 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/09546634.2020.1757016
- 109. Roy, A., Dutta, A., Pal, S., Gupta, A., Sarkar, J., Chatterjee, A., Saha, A., Sarkar, P., Sar, P., Kazy, S.K., 2018. Biostimulation and bioaugmentation of native microbial community accelerated bioremediation of oil refinery sludge. Bioresource Technology 253, 22–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.01.004
- 110. Sadh, P.K., Duhan, S., Duhan, J.S., 2018. Agro-industrial wastes and their utilization using solid state fermentation: a review. Bioresour. Bioprocess. 5, 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40643-017-0187-z
- 111. Sajid, M., Ahmad Khan, M.S., Singh Cameotra, S., Safar Al-Thubiani, A., 2020.
  Biosurfactants: Potential applications as immunomodulator drugs. Immunology Letters 223, 71–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2020.04.003
- 112. Sajna, K.V., Sukumaran, R.K., Gottumukkala, L.D., Pandey, A., 2015. Crude oil biodegradation aided by biosurfactants from *Pseudozyma sp.* NII 08165 or its culture broth. Bioresource Technology 191, 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.04.126
- 113. Santos, D., Rufino, R., Luna, J., Santos, V., Sarubbo, L., 2016. Biosurfactants:
  Multifunctional Biomolecules of the 21st Century. IJMS 17, 401.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17030401
- 114. Sarkar, P., Roy, A., Pal, S., Mohapatra, B., Kazy, S.K., Maiti, M.K., Sar, P., 2017.
  Enrichment and characterization of hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria from petroleum refinery waste as potent bioaugmentation agent for in situ bioremediation. Bioresource Technology 242, 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.010

- 115. Saucedo-Castañeda, G., Trejo-Hernández, M.R., Lonsane, B.K., Navarro, J.M., Roussos, S., Dufour, D., Raimbault, M., 1994. On-line automated monitoring and control systems for CO<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> in aerobic and anaerobic solid-state fermentations. Process Biochemistry 29, 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/0032-9592(94)80054-5
- 116. Schelges, H., Tretyakova, M., 2017a. Sulfate-free cosmetic cleaning agents with biosurfactants. DE102015217503.
- 117. Schelges, H., Tretyakova, M., 2017b. Cosmetic cleansing compositions with bio surfactants in a foam dispenser. DE 102015217502.
- 118. Schelges, H., Tretyakova, M., 2017c. Exfoliation with biosurfactants. DE 102015217504.
- 119. Sen, S., Borah, S.N., Kandimalla, R., Bora, A., Deka, S., 2020. Sophorolipid Biosurfactant Can Control Cutaneous Dermatophytosis Caused by *Trichophyton mentagrophytes*. Front. Microbiol. 11, 329. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00329
- 120. Sharma, P., Gaur, V.K., Kim, S.-H., Pandey, A., 2020. Microbial strategies for biotransforming food waste into resources. Bioresource Technology 299, 122580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122580
- 121. Shasttri, L., Sumant, O., 2018. Surfactants Market by Type (Cationic, Anionic, Nonionic, Amphoteric, and Others) and Application (Household Detergent, Personal Care, Industrial & Institutional Cleaner, Oilfield Chemical, Agricultural Chemical, Food Processing, Paint & Coating, Adhesive, Plastic, Textile, and Others), in: Allied Market Research (Ed.), Global Opportunity Analysis and Industry Forecast, 2018-2025. pp. 1–311.
- 122. Singhania, R.R., Patel, A.K., Soccol, C.R., Pandey, A., 2009. Recent advances in solidstate fermentation. Biochemical Engineering Journal 44, 13–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2008.10.019
- 123. Sitohy, M.Z., Rashad, M.M., Sharobeem, S.F., Mahmoud, A.E., Nooman, M.U., Al Kashef, A.S., 2010. Bioconversion of soy processing waste for production of surfactants. Afr. J. Microbiol. Res. 4, 2811–2821.

124. Sivasankar, P., Suresh Kumar, G., 2017. Influence of pH on dynamics of microbial enhanced oil recovery processes using biosurfactant producing *Pseudomonas putida*: Mathematical modelling and numerical simulation. Bioresource Technology 224, 498–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.10.091

125. Smith, M.L., Gandolfi, S., Coshall, P.M., Rahman, P.K.S.M., 2020. Biosurfactants: A Covid-19 Perspective. Front. Microbiol. 11, 1341. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.01341

- 126. Soccol, C.R., Costa, E.S.F. da, Letti, L.A.J., Karp, S.G., Woiciechowski, A.L., Vandenberghe, L.P. de S., 2017. Recent developments and innovations in solid state fermentation. Biotechnology Research and Innovation 1, 52–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biori.2017.01.002
- 127. Sun, S., Wang, Y., Zang, T., Wei, J., Wu, H., Wei, C., Qiu, G., Li, F., 2019. A biosurfactant-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* S5 isolated from coking wastewater and its application for bioremediation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Bioresource Technology 281, 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.02.087
- 128. Sun, W., Wang, Y., Zhang, W., Ying, H., Wang, P., 2018. Novel surfactant peptide for removal of biofilms. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces 172, 180–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2018.08.029
- 129. Teixeira Souza, K.S., Gudiña, E.J., Schwan, R.F., Rodrigues, L.R., Dias, D.R., Teixeira, J.A., 2018. Improvement of biosurfactant production by *Wickerhamomyces anomalus* CCMA 0358 and its potential application in bioremediation. Journal of Hazardous Materials 346, 152–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2017.12.021
- 130. Torodov Petkov, J., Stevenson, P.S., 2016. Compositions with reduced dye-transfer properties. WO2016139032.
- 131. Tu, Y., Yang, C., Cheng, Y., Zeng, G., Lu, L., Wang, L., 2015. Effect of saponins on nhexane removal in biotrickling filters. Bioresource Technology 175, 231–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.10.039

- 132. Varjani, S.J., Upasani, V.N., 2016. Carbon spectrum utilization by an indigenous strain of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* NCIM 5514: Production, characterization and surface active properties of biosurfactant. Bioresource Technology 221, 510–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.09.080
- 133. Vecino, X., Cruz, J.M., Moldes, A.B., Rodrigues, L.R., 2017. Biosurfactants in cosmetic formulations: trends and challenges. Critical Reviews in Biotechnology 37, 911–923. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551.2016.1269053
- 134. Velioğlu, Z., Ürek, R.Ö., 2016. Physicochemical and structural characterization of biosurfactant produced by *Pleurotus djamor* in solid-state fermentation. Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering 21, 430–438. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-016-0139-z
- 135. Venil, C.K., Yusof, N.Z.B., Ahmad, W.A., 2017. Solid State Fermentation Utilizing Agro-Industrial Waste for Microbial Pigment Production, in: Dhanarajan, A. (Ed.), Sustainable Agriculture towards Food Security. Springer Singapore, Singapore, pp. 375–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-6647-4\_20
- 136. Wang, X., Hu, W., Zhu, L., Yang, Q., 2017. *Bacillus subtilis* and surfactin inhibit the transmissible gastroenteritis virus from entering the intestinal epithelial cells. Bioscience Reports 37, BSR20170082. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20170082
- 137. Wani, M.Y., Ahmad, A., 2020. Combination Therapy Against Multidrug Resistance.Elsevier Science & Technology, San Diego.
- 138. Wu, J., Zhang, J., Wang, P., Zhu, L., Gao, M., Zheng, Z., Zhan, X., 2017. Production of rhamnolipids by semi-solid-state fermentation with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* RG18 for heavy metal desorption. Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering 40, 1611–1619. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-017-1817-8
- 139. Xu, F., Chen, L., Wang, A., Yan, Z., 2016. Influence of surfactant-free ionic liquid microemulsions pretreatment on the composition, structure and enzymatic hydrolysis of water hyacinth. Bioresource Technology 208, 19–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.02.027

- 140. Xu, L., Amin, S., 2019. Microrheological Study of Ternary Surfactant- Biosurfactant Mixture. Int J Cosmet Sci ics.12541. https://doi.org/10.1111/ics.12541
- 141. Xue, J., Wu, Y., Shi, K., Xiao, X., Gao, Y., Li, L., Qiao, Y., 2019. Study on the degradation performance and kinetics of immobilized cells in straw-alginate beads in marine environment. Bioresource Technology 280, 88–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.02.019
- 142. Yin, Y., Gu, J., Wang, Xiaojuan, Zhang, Y., Zheng, W., Chen, R., Wang, Xiaochang, 2019. Effects of rhamnolipid and Tween-80 on cellulase activities and metabolic functions of the bacterial community during chicken manure composting. Bioresource Technology 288, 121507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.121507
- 143. Yuan, L., Zhang, S., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Wang, X., Yang, Q., 2018. Surfactin Inhibits Membrane Fusion during Invasion of Epithelial Cells by Enveloped Viruses. J Virol 92, e00809-18, /jvi/92/21/e00809-18.atom. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00809-18
- 144. Zeng, X., Miao, W., Zeng, H., Zhao, K., Zhou, Y., Zhang, J., Zhao, Q., Tursun, D., Xu, D., Li, F., 2019. Production of natamycin by *Streptomyces gilvosporeus* Z28 through solid-state fermentation using agro-industrial residues. Bioresource Technology 273, 377–385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.11.009
- 145. Zhang, Y., Li, H., Gu, J., Qian, X., Yin, Y., Li, Y., Zhang, R., Wang, X., 2016. Effects of adding different surfactants on antibiotic resistance genes and *intI1* during chicken manure composting. Bioresource Technology 219, 545–551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.06.117
- 146. Zhao, F., Li, P., Guo, C., Shi, R.-J., Zhang, Y., 2018. Bioaugmentation of oil reservoir indigenous *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to enhance oil recovery through in-situ biosurfactant production without air injection. Bioresource Technology 251, 295–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.12.057

- 147. Zhou, A., Liu, W., Varrone, C., Wang, Y., Wang, A., Yue, X., 2015. Evaluation of surfactants on waste activated sludge fermentation by pyrosequencing analysis.
  Bioresource Technology 192, 835–840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.06.017
- 148. Zhu, Z., Zhang, F., Wei, Z., Ran, W., Shen, Q., 2013. The usage of rice straw as a major substrate for the production of surfactin by *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* XZ-173 in solidstate fermentation. Journal of Environmental Management 127, 96–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.04.017
- 149. Zhu, Z., Zhang, G., Luo, Y., Ran, W., Shen, Q., 2012. Production of lipopeptides by *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* XZ-173 in solid state fermentation using soybean flour and rice straw as the substrate. Bioresource Technology 112, 254–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.02.057
- 150. Zimmerman, J.B., Anastas, P.T., Erythropel, H.C., Leitner, W., 2020. Designing for a green chemistry future. Science 367, 397–400. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aay3060

Table 1. Classification of surfactants by origin, ionic status, and hydrophilic-lipophilic balance (HLB)
--

Category			Example	
	synthetic		nonylphenol ethoxylates	
Origin	oleochemical		lauryl alcohol ethoxylates	
	biosurfactants		glycolipids	
		cationic (+)	ammonium salts	
Category         Origin         Ionic status         HLB	ionic	anionic (-)	lauryl sulfates	
		zwitterionic (+/-)	betaines	
	non-ionic		oxirane and 2-methyoxirane copolymers	
HLB	01 - 03		antifoaming agents	
	03 – 08		w/o emulsifiers	
	07 – 10		wetting agents	
	08 – 16		o/w emulsifiers	
	13 – 16		detergents	
	16 – 19		solubilizing agents	

Table 2. Producer microorga	anisms, biosurfactants	, solid media and type of	of reactor for known SSF.
U	/	/ J	

Microorganism	Type of BS	Complemented solid medium	Bioreactor	Reference
Asperoillus fumioatus	Undetermined	Defatted rice bran and husk and diesel oil	Flask	(Martins et al., 2009)
nsperginus junigunus	endetermined	Rice bran	Flask	(Castiglioni et al., 2013)
Asperoillus niger	Undetermined	Wheat bran, corncob and sugarcane molasse	Flask	(Kreling et al., 2020)
nisper ginnis miger	chaotominea	Banana stalk powder		(Asgher et al., 2020)
			Flask	(Zhu et al., 2012)
Bacillus amyloliquefaciens XZ-173	Surfactin	urfactin Soybean flour and rice straw Force agitat	Forcefully aerated and agitated bioreactor (9 kg)	(Zhu et al., 2013)
Bacillus cereus SNAU01	Lipopeptide	Peanut oil cake	Flask	(Nalini et al., 2016)
Bacillus subtilis DM-03	lipopeptides	Potato peels	Flasks	(Das and Mukherjee, 2007)
Bacillus subtilis NB22	Iturin A	Okara	8 L Bottle (3 kg)	(Ohno et al., 1996)
Bacillus subtilis RB14-CS	Iturin A	Okara	Flask	(Mizumoto and Shoda, 2006)
Bacillus subtilis SPB1	Lipopeptides	Tuna fish flour and potato waste flour	Flask	(Mnif et al., 2013)
Bacillus subtilis iso 1	Iturin A	Defatted soybean meal, wheat bran and rice husk	Column	(Piedrahíta-Aguirre et al., 2014)
Bacillus subtilis TrigorCor 1448	Iturin A, fengycin	Wheat middlings	Packed-bed bioreactor	(Pryor et al., 2007)
Candida guilliermondii	Undetermined	Okara	Flask	(Sitohy et al. 2010)

47  $\begin{array}{c} 48\\ 49\\ 50\\ 51\\ 52\\ 53\\ 54\\ 55\\ 56\\ 57\\ 58\\ 60\\ 61\\ 62\\ 63\\ 64\\ 65\\ \end{array}$ 

22			
23 24	Candida tropicalis	Undetermined	Instant noddle waste
25 26	Nocardiopsis sp. MSA13A	Undetermined	Treated molasses from distillery
27 28	Nocardiopsis lucentensis MSA04	Glycolipids	Wheat bran
29 30 31	Pleurotus ostreatus	Undetermined	Sunflower seed shell and sunflower seed oil
32 33	Pleurotus ostreatus	Hydrophobin like proteins	Sesame and coconut oil cake
34 35	Pseudomonas aeruginosa IRMD- 2010	Rhamnolipids	Oil-corn germ meal and corn bran
36 37	Pseudomonas aeruginosa UFPEDA 614	Rhamnolipids	Sugarcane bagasse and corn bran
38 39 40	Pseudomonas aeruginosa RG18	Undetermined	Rapeseed meal, wheat bran and glycerol
41 42	Pseudomonas aeruginosa SS14	Rhamnolipid	Rice distillers dried grain
43 44	Serratia rubidaea SNAU02	Rhamnolipid	Mahua oil cake
45 46 47 48 49 50 51	Starmerella bombicola	Sophorolipids	Polyurethane foam impregnated with molasses and stearic acid Hygienised digestate supplemented with external sugar and fat sources Winterization oil cake, sugar beet molasses
52 53 54 55	Starmella bombicola ATCC 22214	Sophorolipids	Winterization oil cake, sugar beet molasses and wheat straw Winterization oil cake, sugar beet molasses and wheat straw
56 57 58	Trametes versicolor CECT 20817	Undetermined	Two-phase olive mill waste, wheat bran and olive stones
59 60 61 62 63 64			
0.0			

Page	49	of	50	
1 age	エノ	01	50	

(Ribeaux et al., 2020)

(Kiran et al., 2014)

(Kiran et al., 2010)

(Velioğlu and Ürek, 2016)

(Ranjbar and Hejazi, 2019)

(Camilios-Neto et al., 2011)

(Nalini and Parthasarathi, 2014)

(Jiménez-Peñalver et al., 2018)

(Jiménez- Peñalver et al., 2020)

(Jiménez-Peñalver et al., 2016)

(Rodríguez et al., 2020)

(Lourenço et al., 2018)

(Kulkarni et al., 2020)

(Wu et al., 2017)

(Borah et al., 2019)

(Cerda et al., 2019)

Flask

Flask

Flask

Flask

Flask

Flask

Flask

Flask

Flask

Flasks

Packed-bed bioreactor

Packed-bed bioreactor

Packed-bed bioreactor



## (A) Phyla of microorganisms used in SSF to produce biosurfactants

(B) Biosurfactants produced in SSF



(C) Scale of production of biosurfactants in SSF





(D) Type of bioreactor used for production

**Figure 1.** Analysis of the scientific literature involving biosurfactants production using SSF: A, phylum of the producing microorganism; B, class of obtained biosurfactants; C, scale of production (in g of solid medium); D, type of bioreactor employed to perform the SSF.

Declaration of interest

All authors declare no financial of personal with any organization that could influence this work.